IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA (Before a Referee)

047

THE FLORIDA BAR

Complainant,

VS.

ROBERT P. JORDAN, II

Respondent.

CASE NO. 85, 109

FILED

STD J. WHITE

NOV 20 1995

ALCONOLIO SE A

Chief Deputy Clerk

CLERK SUPREME GOURT

Petition For Review of

Referee's Decision

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT P. JORDAN, II 1501 Robert J. Conlan Blvd., Suite 100 Palm Bay, Florida 32905 (407)725-1122 Florida Bar No. 294373

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 19, 1995, a hearing was held before Referee Judge Robert Hawley as the result of the Florida Bar accusing Respondent of having violated the following Rules Regulating the Bar:

- 1) 4-1.4(a) for failing to keep a client reasonably informed about the status of a matter and promptly complying with reasonable requests for information;
- 2) 4-1.4(b) for failing to explain a matter to the extent reasonably necessary to permit a client to make informed decisions regarding the representation;
- 3) 4-8.4(g) for failing to respond, in writing, to an inquiry by a disciplinary agency when such agency is conducting an investigation into a lawyer's conduct; and
- 4) 4-1.3 for failing to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client.

The referee found the Respondent guilty of violating Rules 4-1.4(a), 4-8.4(g) and 4-1.3.

A timely Petition For Review Of Referee's Decision was filed.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In August, 1991, Charles Thomas contacted the Respondent to attempt to halt the scheduled auction of Mr. Thomas' household furnishings by Florida Moving Systems. Respondent was unable to stop the auction.

Subsequently, Mr. Charles Thomas retained Respondent to file a civil suit against Florida Moving Systems and North American Van Lines. Suit was filed.

During the course of litigation, Mr. Thomas gave a phone deposition but was subsequently ordered to appear for a deposition in May, 1993. Upon his appearance, Mr. Thomas was arrested as the result of having outstanding warrants in the State of Florida.

Mr. Thomas was informed of a deposition to be had in June, 1993, one day prior to trial.

Mr. Thomas informed Respondent that he was unable to appear in the State of Florida for either his deposition or trial.

Respondent filed a Motion For Protective Order and Motion To Continue on behalf of Mr. Thomas. The Motion To Continue was denied and a voluntary dismissal of the matter was entered.

Prior to the Motion To Continue was argued or voluntary dismissal was taken, both were discussed with Mr. Charles Thomas. Mr. Thomas agreed to both.

As the result of Mr. Thomas' May, 1993 arrest, Respondent represented Mr. Thomas in those criminal matters.

Mr. Thomas was informed of plea offers in his criminal matters which he rejected.

Respondent eventually filed Motions To Withdraw and notice of hearing which Mr.

Thomas received. He failed to attend any of the hearings.

Mr. Thomas claims that he failed to appear for a trial in Florida, but the record reflects no bench warrant was ever issued.

In March 1993, Respondent was appointed to represent James Rooney in two appeals.

On May 14, 1993, both appeals were dismissed in error for no filing fee when in fact, Indigency Affidavits had been filed in a timely manner. The Respondent successfully sought reinstatement of the appeals on May 26, 1993.

On or about September 30, 1993, the Respondent received Orders to Show Cause why the appeals should not be dismissed. Respondent appeared and stated that he never received notice of reinstatement. The Appellate Court followed up with an Order on October 13, 1993 that Respondent shall file and serve the initial Briefs on or before November 12, 1993 and that failure to timely comply with that Order would result in a dismissal of the appeals without further notice. The Respondent failed to timely file the initials Briefs and the appeals were again dismissed on or about December 2, 1993.

Respondent filed a Writ of Habeas Corpus on behalf of Mr. Rooney in order to have the appeal reinstated. Mr. Rooney had filed his own Motion To Reinstate in one matter.

Both appeals were reinstated. Mr. Rooney was granted a resentencing in one appeal and the other matter was affirmed.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Point I

The Referee erred in finding that the Respondent failed to keep his client, Mr. Charles Thomas, reasonably informed.

The record is devoid of evidence to support the findings of the referee, in fact, the evidence clearly contradicts the referee's findings.

The client admits receiving copies of the complaint filed, the Answer filed by the Defendants, pre-trial witness lists in the civil matter. The client admits receiving copies of plea offers, motions to withdraw and notices of hearings in the criminal matters.

Though he did not admit to receiving copies of the Motions For Summary Judgment, he acknowledged he knew of the motion and when it was to be heard. Though he did not admit to receiving copies of notices of depositions, he appeared.

He does not argue that the Motion To Continue, Motion For Protective Order nor Voluntary Dismissal were improper or done without his knowledge or consent.

Point II

Even assuming that Respondent is guilty of not keeping his client informed, the proposed penalty is too severe.

Neither client has demonstrated any injury or potential injury, or a dishonest or selfish motive. In fact, the case of Mr. Rooney, Respondent attempted to rectify the situation be filing a Writ of Habeas Corpus on behalf of Mr. Rooney.

Public Reprimand is a proper sanction when there is a negligent violation of a duty owed.

There is nothing in the record to demonstrate anything other than a negligent violation.

Point III

The costs assessed against the Respondent are improper since the Respondent should not have been found guilty of Rule 4-1.4(a) and any costs associated with that rule should be stricken. Violation of rule 4-8.4(g) was admitted.

THE REFEREE ERRED IN FINDING THAT RESPONDENT FAILED TO KEEP HIS CLIENT REASONABLY INFORMED AND PROMPTLY COMPLY WITH REASONABLE REOUESTS FOR INFORMATION

A referee's findings of fact regarding guilt are presumed unless they are clearly erroneous or without support in the record. The Florida Bar v. Glant, 645 So.2d 962 (Fla. 1994) In addition, it is the Respondent's burden to demonstrate that there is no evidence to support the findings of the referee or that the evidence clearly contradicts the findings. The Florida Bar v. Rue, 643 So.2d 1080 (Fla. 1994)

Mr. Thomas admits receiving a copy of the complaint from Respondent. Tr 18, L11-14. Mr. Thomas admits being told of the Court Order requiring his attendance for deposition on June 9, 1993. Tr 24, L17-25. Mr. Thomas admits receiving the pre-trial witness list, which was discussed with him. Tr 50, L50; Tr 51, L1-17. Mr. Thomas admits being aware that Motions For Summary Judgment were pending and had notice of the hearing. Tr 51, L18-50, Tr 52, L1.

Respondent produced a copy of the Answer filed by Defendant along with the transmittal letter to Mr. Thomas. Tr 85, L4-12. Respondent produced a facsimile and transmittal form to Mr. Thomas showing a Motion For Leave To Amend was sent to Mr. Thomas. Tr 102, L6-10. In addition, Respondent produced a letter dated October 13, 1992, showing the sending of all pleadings from September 1, 1992 through October 13, 1992. Tr 103, L7.

One of Mr. Thomas' complaints is that he did not receive a copy of an Order that he appear in Brevard County for his deposition at least one week prior to the trial week. Tr 31, L20-22. However, it is undisputed that Mr. Thomas appeared for his deposition which was not taken because Mr. Thomas was arrested. Tr 90, L4-18.

Mr. Thomas says under direct examination that he didn't know the results of Defendant's Motion For Summary Judgment. Tr 23, L3-11. However under cross examination, he didn't recall if he was informed of the results. Tr 52, L2-5.

Mr. Thomas did not appear for his deposition of June 9, 1993 nor his trial set for June 10, 1993. Tr 75, L10-25; Tr 76, L1-25; Tr 77, L1-16. That is undisputed. The reasons for his not appearing are undisputed. He knew both dates. Tr 49, L3-16.

He cannot and does not complain that he had no knowledge of the depositions or of the trial because he had no intention of coming to the deposition or trial. Tr 76, L20-24.

Nowhere does he say that he didn't know of the Motion For Protective Order or Motion To Continue or objected thereto. Nowhere did he object to the filing of the voluntary dismissal because he knew of it and agreed to it. Tr 77, L1-13.

Mr. Thomas admits that Respondent initiated calls to Mr. Thomas fifteen (15) times. He admits to have called the Respondent at home and to have talked to Respondent quite often. Tr 46, L3-20.

The docket sheet clearly shows that Defendant's Motion For Summary Judgment was heard June 2, 1993. The Order was signed June 16, 1993. On June 7, 1993, the Court ordered Mr. Thomas' deposition to be taken June 9, 1993 and trial for June 10, 1993. That order was signed June 16, 1993.

The record clearly shows that though Mr. Thomas didn't receive those orders prior to the event noted in the Order, Mr. Thomas was made aware of each event and acted accordingly.

Regarding the criminal cases, it is disputed that Respondent represented Mr. Thomas. Correspondence was sent to Mr. Thomas regarding plea negotiations. Tr 83, L7-25. Mr.

Thomas received copies of the Motions To Withdraw and Notices of Hearings. Tr 56, L12-19. Mr. Thomas also received correspondence from Respondent that he should retain other counsel in both the civil and criminal matters. Tr 56, L1-10.

Mr. Thomas' main concern seemed to be that he failed to appear for a criminal trial and a bench warrant was issued. Mr. Thomas received Notice of Respondent's Motion To Withdraw, failed to attend that hearing but had attorney Gina Lauf appear on his behalf. Tr 68, L1-8. The docket sheet clearly shows no bench warrant being issued.

In reviewing Rule 4-1.4 of the Rules of Professional Conduct, the comment indicates that the client should have sufficient information to participate in decisions as to the objections of the representation and how those objections will be reached.

At no time does Mr. Thomas claim that his lack of knowledge impaired his ability to participate or make decisions. He only complains that he didn't receive copies of some documents. His actions in both the civil and criminal matters clearly indicate he had knowledge as to the status of his litigation and made decisions accordingly.

The referee's findings of fact are clearly erroneous and without support in the record.

THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION IS TOO SEVERE

The Referee made the recommendation that Respondent be suspended from the practice of law for thirty (30) days having been found guilty of 4-1.4(a), 4-8.4(g) and 4-1.3 Rule Regulating the Florida Bar. The recommendation of the Referee is only persuasive while it is the Supreme Court's task to determine the appropriate sanction. The Florida Bar v. Reed, 644 So.2d 1355 (Fla. 1994)

A bar disciplinary action must serve three purposes: "the judgment must be fair to society, it must be fair to the attorney, and it must be severe enough to deter other attorneys from similar misconduct." The Florida Bar v. Rue, 643 So.2d 1080, 1081 (Fla. 1994)

Assuming that Respondent should have been found guilty of 4-1.4(a) Rules Regulating the Florida Bar, the proposed penalty is too severe.

Under Florida Standard For Imposing Lawyer Sanctions 7.3 indicates that a public reprimand is appropriate when a lawyer is negligently engages in conduct that violates a duty owed as a professional and causes injury or potential injury to the client.

In the Charles Thomas matter, assuming that Mr. Thomas had received absolutely no information regarding the status of the case, but voluntarily and knowingly chose not to appear for a deposition and trial and voluntarily and knowingly approved the voluntary dismissal of the case, he suffered absolutely no injury. His matter had been refiled at the time of the hearing before the referee.

In the James Rooney matter, Mr. Rooney's cases where in fact appealed. In one matter, the Court found an error in sentencing which had been preserved for appeal. In the other matter, his conviction and sentence were affirmed.

The fact is Mr. Rooney will serve the same amount of time because he was sentenced to serve thirty (30) years in the case that was affirmed on appeal and that time was to run concurrent with the sentence imposed in the other matter.

Mr. Rooney did not suffer any injury or potential injury.

A public reprimand serves the purpose of attorney disciplinary action.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Whitaker</u>, 596 So.2d 672 (Fla. 1992) the Respondent was found guilty of 4-1.3 (lawyer shall act with reasonable diligence) and 4-1.4 (lawyer shall keep client reasonably informed) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. Factually, Mr. Whitaker failed to file suit within the statute of limitations thereby barring his client from any recovery.

Even though there clearly was client injury, the Court felt that a public reprimand was proper; citing The Florida Bar v. Riskin, 549 So.2d 178 (Fla. 1989) and The Florida Bar v. Knowlton, 507 So.2d 1378 (Fla. 1988)

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Price</u>, 569 So.2d 1261 (Fla. 1990), where Respondent had failed to consult with clients about dismissing a bankruptcy action, dismissing action with the clients knowledge or consent and failing to tell them about the dismissal, the Court found that a public reprimand was proper especially in isolated instances of neglect or lapses of judgment.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Neely</u>, 417 So.2d 957 (Fla. 1982), which was factually similar to the situation involving James Rooney, the Court found that a public reprimand was proper.

Public reprimand is the proper sanction.

THE COST ASSESSED TO RESPONDENT ARE IMPROPER

The Referee found that the sum of one thousand nine hundred dollars and fifty-four cents (\$1,900.54) were reasonable costs incurred by the Florida Bar. These costs are improper.

It is within the discretion of the referee to determine the Bar's entitlement to costs and the amount to be assessed but the final decision as to entitlement and costs lies with the Court.

The Florida Bar v. Glant, 645 So.2d 962 (Fla. 1994)

Since the Bar failed to show that Respondent failed to communicate with his client, any costs associated with the investigation of the alleged violation of rule 4-1.4(a) should be stricken. Violation of 4-8.4(g) was admitted.

CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities cited herein, Respondent requests this Honorable Court to find that Respondent did not violate Rule 4-1.4(a), reduce the amount of costs to be paid by the Respondent and find that a Public Reprimand is the proper sanction.