047

12/21

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SEC 8 1995

CLERK, SUPNEWE GOURT

Chief Dentay Clark

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Case No. 85,109

[TFB Case Nos. 94-30,962(18C)&

94-31,229(18C)]

v.

ROBERT PAUL JORDAN,

Respondent.

THE FLORIDA BAR'S ANSWER BRIEF

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 ATTORNEY NO. 123390

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 ATTORNEY NO. 217395

AND

Jan Wichrowski
Bar Counsel
The Florida Bar
880 North Orange Avenue
Suite 200
Orlando, Florida 32801-1085
(407) 425-5424
ATTORNEY NO. 381586

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In bar proceedings, a referee's findings of fact presumed to be correct and will not be revisited by this court unless the party challenging those findings proves they are erroneous or not supported by the evidence, The Florida Bar v. Poe, 20 Fla. L. Weekly S562 (Fla. Nov. 9, 1995). This is a heavy burden because the referee, as the trier of fact, is in the best position to judge credibility and resolve conflicts in the evidence, The Florida Bar v. Marable, 645 So. 2d 438, 442 (Fla. 1994). The bar submits the evidence and testimony in this case clearly show the respondent's communication with Mr. Thomas was not adequate given the fact that the client lived in another state and could not easily keep track of his case's progress himself. He was in a position of having to rely on the respondent not only to keep him abreast of the important developments, but also to timely advise him of hearings he would need to personally attend. There is no good reason why the respondent could not routinely send copies of pleadings, motions and orders to his client nor is there any good reason why he could not have advised him of the trial in the criminal case the

same day he learned of it in light of the fact that his client would have to travel some distance to attend.

The 30 day suspension with automatic reinstatement is appropriate given the respondent's prior disciplinary history, the pattern of neglecting client cases, the existence of multiple offenses and his substantial experience in the practice of law. In both matters, the respondent had clients who could not come to his office, either due to distance or incarceration, and were placed in a position of relying on the respondent to keep them informed and handle matters expeditiously. Clearly there was a potential for injury in both cases. Mr. Thomas failed to appear for a criminal trial and it is fortuitous that another attorney, not the respondent, was able to have the matter cleared up. In Mr. Rooney's case, the referee found that his appeals were unduly delayed may in fact have been compromised due to the respondent's inaction (ROR-A4).

In bar proceedings, the taxation of costs is discretionary,

The Florida Bar v. Chilton, 616 So. 2d 449, 451 (Fla. 1993), R.

Regulating Fla. Bar 3-7.6(o)(2), and the referee's recommendation

will not be disturbed unless it can be shown the referee abused that discretion, The Florida Bar v. de la Puente, 658 So. 2d 65, 70 (Fla. 1995), R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-7.6(o)(2). The bar submits there has been no abuse of that discretion. The referee recommended the respondent be found guilty of all but one of the rules charged and the respondent has failed to show any of the bar's costs were unreasonable.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE REFEREE'S FINDING OF FACT CONCERNING THE RESPONDENT'S FAILURE TO ADEQUATELY COMMUNICATE WITH HIS CLIENT WAS SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE.

It is well settled in bar disciplinary proceedings that a referee's findings of fact are presumed to be correct and if those findings are supported by competent, substantial evidence, this court is precluded from reweighing the evidence and substituting its judgment for that of the referee, The Florida Bar v. MacMillan, 600 So. 2d 457, 459 (Fla. 1992). The burden of proving the findings are clearly erroneous or not supported by the evidence rests with the party seeking review, Poe, supra. This is a heavy burden to meet because the referee, as this court's fact finder, is in the best position to evaluate the evidence and credibility of the witnesses, Marable, supra. The bar submits the respondent has failed to prove the referee's findings were clearly erroneous or without support in the record. The referee merely chose not to believe the respondent's

testimony he adequately communicated with Mr. Thomas. In fact, in his report, the referee stated "Although Respondent testified that he kept Mr. Thomas advised as to the status of his case, he provided limited documentation to support his claim" (ROR-A2). The referee clearly stated on this same page of his report that the respondent did have communication with his client, it just was not sufficient to keep the client reasonably informed as to the progress of the matter. After all, if the respondent's communication with Mr. Thomas was adequate, it is doubtful Mr. Thomas would have contacted the clerk's office and paid for copies of filed documents (T. p.p. 21, 23).

According to Mr. Thomas' testimony at the final hearing, he had no difficulty in contacting the respondent during the first one or two months after he hired him but, thereafter, it became almost impossible to reach him by telephone (T. p. 14). He estimated that for every twenty contacts with the respondent's office, he would get one reply from the respondent (T. p. 15). Normally, Mr. Thomas was only able to speak to the respondent's secretaries, who repeatedly assured him that the respondent was getting his messages (T. p. 16). Additionally, he testified the

respondent sent him copies of documents for a period of time but thereafter ceased doing so (T. p. 23). Whenever Mr. Thomas would call the respondent's office and inquire about obtaining copies of new documents, he would be advised by a secretary that the respondent had sent him copies of everything there was (T. p. 23). He asked the respondent for a copy of the civil complaint he believed the respondent had filed in October, 1991, but received nothing other than the faxed copy that was not very legible and that, at the time it was faxed, had not been filed (T. p.p. 18-21). The respondent did not give him a copy of B-Ex. 3, the order awarding a partial summary judgment in favor of the defendants (T. p. 24) and he could not recall if the respondent had informed him of the results of the hearing on the defendants' motion for summary judgment (T. p. 52) but believed that he had learned of the order awarding it only after contacting the clerk's office and obtaining copies of all the documents the respondent had not sent him (T. p.p. 22-23). Respondent could produce no proof he had informed his client of this order other than his own testimony (T. p. 64). He did not produce any letter advising Mr. Thomas of the hearing's result. Mr. Thomas also testified the respondent never sent him a copy of the defendants'

answer to the civil complaint (T. p. 48) despite the respondent's testimony he mailed it to him on January 13, 1992, (R-Ex. 11) after opposing counsel filed it on December 27, 1991 (T. p. 85).

Mr. Thomas originally was scheduled to be deposed in the civil case on February 28, 1992, but the respondent admittedly did not send the notice of the deposition to Mr. Thomas until March 4, 1992, when he faxed it to him (T. p. 86). respondent testified that for reasons he could not recall, Mr. Thomas did not show for the deposition and it was rescheduled for a later date (T. p.p. 87-88). The referee noted that the respondent's proposed exhibit showing he faxed the notice of the Thomas' deposition after the event occurred taking of Mr. indicated there was an untimely notice of the deposition (T. p. 91). The respondent withdrew this proposed exhibit (T. p. 91). Mr. Thomas testified he was made aware by the respondent of his deposition set for at least one week before the trial period that commenced on June 7, 1993 (T. p. 24), but the respondent never provided him with a copy of the court's order directing his appearance (T. p. 31, B-Ex. 5). Whether or not Mr. Thomas intended to attend either the deposition or the trial

irrelevant. The issue is whether or not the respondent adequately communicated with him throughout the entire period of the representation. In his brief, the respondent, on page seven, admits that Mr. Thomas did not receive copies of orders concerning the defendants' motion for summary judgment and setting his deposition prior to the events noted in the orders and offers no explanation as to why the respondent was unable to send these documents in a timely manner to his client.

In Mr. Thomas' criminal case, it is clear from the evidence that the respondent knew as of December 3, 1994, that the trial would be held on December 16, 1994, (R-Ex. 3 p. 2) but did not see fit to call his client, who he knew would have a difficult time attending, and did not write to him until December 13, 1993, which letter he sent by express mail and which Mr. Thomas did not receive until the day before the trial (B-Ex. 4, B-Ex. 8). The respondent never explained why he waited to notify his client of the trial date. Instead, he apparently believes that because Mr. Thomas suffered no harm, this should absolve him from being disciplined. Further, although the respondent states on page seven of his brief that he disputes that he represented Mr.

Thomas in this matter, the docket sheet (R-Ex. 3) clearly shows that the respondent was attorney of record. He filed his notice of appearance on June 8, 1993, and entered a plea of not guilty on Mr. Thomas' behalf. The respondent did not file his motion to withdraw until December 3, 1993, and Gina Lauf did not file her notice of appearance until December 16, 1993, the day of the trial.

Mr. Thomas wrote the respondent on November 11, 1993, (B-Ex. 6) and complained that he had been unable to contact the respondent at the office by telephone and was reluctant to call him at home. He stated he had repeatedly tried without success to obtain from the respondent's office copies of documents filed in his case since October, 1992. Since October, 1992, he had tried to get a copy of the default judgment the respondent had told him had been entered against one if the defendants and learned shortly before writing this letter that no such judgment had been entered. At the final hearing, the only rebuttal the respondent could offer to Mr. Thomas' complaint about his lack of communication, directed to him long before Mr. Thomas filed his

bar grievance in January, 1994, (T. p. 32), was that he knew Mr. Thomas had copies of everything, he spoke to his client himself (T. p. 105) and he introduced into evidence a few letters to Mr. Thomas (R-Ex. 4, R-EX. 10, R-Ex. 11, R-Ex. 13, R-Ex. 14, R-Ex. He claimed to have spoken to his client frequently during June, 1993, and the reason for less communication thereafter was because the case had been voluntarily dismissed and there was nothing to tell Mr. Thomas (T. p.p. 108-109). He submitted into evidence a letter indicating he was sending Mr. Thomas copies of documents created between September, 1992, and October, There was no indication he sent Mr. Thomas the documents after that date which he repeatedly requested. Clearly, Mr. Thomas felt the communication was inadequate or he would not have written the November 11, 1993, letter complaining about a lack of communication over a period of approximately one year. Mr. Thomas had no difficulty contacting the respondent's secretary, the problem was that she could not answer the questions, only the respondent could (T. p. 16) and he did not make himself available to answer Mr. Thomas' queries. In addition, at least one item the respondent did send to Mr. Thomas, the pretrial compliance statement (R-Ex. 7), was incomplete so when the respondent

discussed it with him by telephone, Mr. Thomas had no way of knowing it listed the outstanding criminal warrants for his arrest (T. p.p. 50-51).

POINT II

THE APPROPRIATE LEVEL OF DISCIPLINE IS A SUSPENSION OF AT LEAST THIRTY DAYS GIVEN THE RESPONDENT'S PRIOR DISCIPLINARY HISTORY AND THE AGGRAVATING FACTORS.

Discipline in bar proceedings must serve three purposes: the judgement must be fair to society in terms of protecting the public from unethical conduct and in not denying them the services of a qualified lawyer (the latter of which the bar submits is no longer a special concern in most areas of this state given the explosive growth in the bar's membership in recent years); the judgement must be fair to the lawyer, being sufficient to punish the errant conduct while at the same time encouraging reform and rehabilitation; and the judgement must be severe enough to deter others who might be prone or tempted to engage in similar misconduct, The Florida Bar v. Niles, 644 So. 2d 504, 507 (Fla. 1994). The respondent is charged with two counts of what amounts to poor management. He has failed to adequately communicate with his client in one case and neglected an appeal in a second case. It appears the respondent's office procedures and workload management skills are lacking. Нę

testified at the final hearing that he did not file Mr. Rooney's brief in a timely manner because of his heavy workload (T. p.p. 143, 158). Neglect and lack of communication are among the most common grievances the bar receives from the public concerning their attorneys. Not only is it bad business for the individual practitioner, it is bad for the image of the profession as a whole. Had there only been an isolated incident, then a public reprimand would be warranted. However, there is a pattern of neglect here and the respondent has a prior disciplinary history for engaging in similar misconduct. The bar submits that given these aggravating factors, the case law and the Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, a suspension of no less than thirty days would best suit the purposes of discipline.

In 1992, the respondent was admonished for improperly engaging in a business transaction with a client in <u>The Florida Bar v. Jordan</u>, TFB Case No. 92-30,198(18C). During the time he was representing a client in a mortgage foreclosure matter, he asked the client if she would assist him in setting up and operating a nightclub he owned. She agreed and understood her services were to be in exchange for the respondent's legal

services rendered in her case. She also agreed to front the money needed to set up the business with the understanding that it would be considered as "escrow" funds for her mortgage dispute matter and the respondent would repay her once her case was settled. The respondent never reduced their agreement to writing. The respondent did reimburse her for some of the funds she paid out to establish the business but a dispute arose as to the amount she was owed. The respondent never advised his client to seek the advice of independent counsel prior to becoming involved in the arrangement.

One year later, in 1992, the respondent was publicly reprimanded in The Florida Bar v. Jordan, 617 So. 2d 321 (Fla. 1993), for inadequate communication and neglect reminiscent of the charges contained in count two of the bar's complaint concerning Mr. Rooney's case. In 1990, the respondent was appointed by the court to represent an indigent criminal defendant at the trial level. After the defendant was found guilty, he advised the respondent he wanted to seek an appeal. The respondent filed the necessary documents and asked that the public defender be appointed. The court, however, failed to

enter an order appointing the public defender for purposes of appeal and the respondent failed to follow up on his motion. Therefore, he remained the attorney of record. He filed nothing further in the case and the appellate court issued an order directing that the defendant either pay the filing fee or file a certified copy of the trial court's order of insolvency. respondent was sent a copy of this order but he did not respond or take any action. As a result, the client's appeal was dismissed. Despite receiving a copy of the dismissal order, he took no action to have the appeal reinstated. The client, who was incarcerated, made inquiries of the respondent concerning the appeal, but got nothing from him. The public defender's office finally brought the dismissal to the respondent's attention after it received an inquiry from the inmate about the status of the The respondent did file a motion to have the appeal matter. reinstated but it was denied as being untimely.

Cumulative misconduct warrants the imposition of more severe discipline than would otherwise be warranted, <u>The Florida Bar v.</u>

<u>Lawless</u>, 640 So. 2d 1098, 1101 (Fla. 1994). The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, standards 9.22(c) and

9.22(d), also provide that discipline may be increased based on a pattern of misconduct or multiple offenses, The Florida Bar v. Inglis, 660 So. 2d 697, 700 (Fla. 1995). The respondent has a prior history of engaging in similar misconduct and there exists in this case multiple instances of wrongdoing and a pattern of improper behavior.

In Florida Bar v. Daniel, 626 So. 2d 178 (Fla. 1993), an attorney was suspended for 30 days for failing to obtain court approval of a settlement reached with an insurance company for personal injuries sustained by a minor and for failing to effect a public sale after obtaining a judgment in foreclosure for his clients. In the first case, the attorney failed to schedule a court date for his petition to approve the settlement and never took any action to obtain court approval of the settlement before having the clients execute the settlement and release documents. He then proceeded to disburse the funds without returning the executed release to the insurance company's attorney. In a second case, he had filed a complaint to foreclose a mortgage that resulted in a final judgment in default of foreclosure being entered in favor of his clients. He then failed to perfect the

public sale ordered by the court and did not pay the sums due on the mortgage. He later filed a motion for an amended final judgment but failed to ascertain the existence of certain liens nor did he name any of the outstanding lien holders. He did not advise his clients as to the consequences of not taking the property to public sale. The clients eventually sought the assistance of other counsel to complete the matter.

An attorney's negligent handling of a medical malpractice suit resulted in his being suspended for 90 days and placed on a one year period of probation in The Florida Bar v. Golden, 530 So. 2d 931 (Fla. 1988). In the civil matter he undertook, he failed to timely file an amended complaint as requested by the court. The court admonished him to file a second complaint in a timely manner but he again failed to do so. He filed the second complaint late and the defendants were successful in having it dismissed. The appellate court upheld the dismissal and criticized the attorney for disregarding the lower court's order. The trial court later dismissed one of the defendants and the accused attorney took an appeal of that order. Three weeks after his brief was due, he sought an extension of time, which the

court granted. He then requested, and received, yet another extension. After he finally filed his brief, the court upheld the lower court's order. In its opinion, this court noted that the attorney was also considerably late in filing his brief in his own defense of the bar action. This court stated that "All lawyers have an obligation to pursue diligently matters they undertake. Rule 4-1.3, Rules Regulating the Fla. Bar. A separate obligation arises to comply with a court order. Failure to do so demonstrates a lack of zealousness or dedication to one's professional responsibilities."

An attorney was suspended for 30 days in The Florida Bar v. Sapp, 526 So. 2d 908 (Fla. 1988), for failing to clear title to real estate and failing to communicate with the client resulting in the rescission of the land sale contract. The attorney had been paid to perform the services. In another case, the attorney had been retained to clear the title to land held by an estate. There was a time limit in which the work had to be completed. The attorney caused delays and later demanded an additional fee to complete the matter. In a third case, he was retained to provide legal services but failed to return telephone calls, keep

appointments or pursue the matter. The attorney had already been suspended in a separate proceeding and his 30 day suspension was to run concurrent with the prior suspension.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Weed</u>, 513 So. 2d 126 (Fla. 1987), a 60 day suspension was imposed on an attorney who failed to timely file appellate briefs. After filing notices of appeal in three cases, the attorney took no further action until the district court ordered him to appear personally and show cause why the appeals should not be dismissed. The court allowed all three appeals to go forward but did discipline the attorney by ordering a public reprimand. In a second case, the attorney failed to file a brief. He responded to the court's order to show cause by alleging the court reporter had not filed a transcript. district court found this reply was insufficient. The attorney then asserted that he could not find the court reporter and supported his position by filing the unsigned affidavits of two judicial assistants. The attorney was found guilty of engaging in dishonest conduct that was unintentional. In another matter, the attorney filed a notice of appeal but did not file a brief and failed to timely respond to an order to show cause why the

appeal should not be dismissed. His defense was that much of his time was spent tending to the affairs of his secretary who became ill and ultimately died. This court found that although the attorney's conduct was not intentional, it was habitual.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Neale</u>, 432 So. 2d 50 (Fla. 1983), a lawyer was suspended for 60 days and placed on a 3 year period of probation for neglect and inadequate communication. The attorney accepted a retainer but took no action to further his client's best interests. There was no evidence of a corrupt motive. In mitigation, he had been a member of the bar for many years and his health was not good.

Bar v. Mike, 428 So. 2d 1386 (Fla. 1983). The attorney failed to file a change of custody on behalf of his client after having received a fee to do so. Additionally, the attorney failed to refund the fee, offered to have a notary notarize a signature outside the presence of the person whose signature was to be acknowledged and demonstrated incompetence in performing the task for which he had been retained. In a second case, the attorney

neglected a client's affairs by failing to take complete action toward obtaining a dissolution of marriage. In a third matter, the attorney gave the clerk of the court a check drawn on his account that was returned due to insufficient funds. The final count alleged that the attorney failed to pay his annual bar dues and was automatically suspended but continued to practice law. The attorney had a prior disciplinary history.

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